Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

3-5-2021

### Blalack v. Idaho Transportation Department Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48293

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

This case involves a challenge of an Administrative License Suspension based on a lack of reasonable suspicion to detain Appellant Aimee Blalack (hereinafter Blalack) to conduct an investigation for driving under the influence.

### **B. PROCEEDINGS BELOW.**

The hearing officer upheld the suspension. The decision was appealed to the District Court which affirmed the hearing officer's decision.

### **C. STATEMENT OF FACTS.**

On August 10<sup>th</sup>, 2019, at approximately 12:30 a.m., Idaho State Trooper Jonathan Cushman (hereinafter "Trooper Cushman") observed Blalack heading east on US 95 travelling 46 mph in a 35 mph zone. (R.12). The video of the stop shows Trooper Cushman initiating the traffic stop by flipping his car around to pursue Blalack. When Blalack's vehicle first comes into view, she is using her turn signal to change from the right lane to the left lane. (R. Ex. R. 68, at 00:34 TS<sup>1</sup>). Blalack is not driving in any erratic manner before and pulls over as soon as Trooper Cushman activated his overhead flashers (Id. At 00:34:19).

During the traffic stop, Trooper Cushman approaches the car and asks Blalack if she knew what the speed limit is and she replies she thought it was 45 mph. Blalack apologizes many times for speeding in the course of promptly responding to all of Trooper Cushman's inquiries. (Id. At 00:35 – 35:48). Trooper Cushman asks Blalack how to pronounce her name, she pronounces her name and then spells it. (Id. At 0:35:49). Trooper Cushman then asks Blalack to exit her vehicle and wait for him at the back of her car. Blalack does as instructed and

---

<sup>1</sup> Time Stamp on the video in the upper left corner.

does not show any signs of intoxication, such as swaying or leaning on the car to prevent herself from swaying. When Trooper Cushman returns to Blalack's vehicle he informs Blalak that he is going to make sure she is safe to drive. (Id at 00:37:09)

Trooper Cushman's stated grounds for turning a traffic stop into a driving under the influence investigation is that during the initial contact, he "...suspected that Blalack was under the influence of alcohol based on her slurred speech and glassesey eyes." (R.33). After Trooper Cushman detained Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation, Blalack admitted to drinking, and failed some of the field sobriety tests. She was then arrested on suspicion of DUI.

## **ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. Did the hearing officer commit error when he failed to make any findings of fact that would support the conclusion that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to detain Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation?
2. Is remand of this matter for findings of fact necessary since any findings supporting the conclusion that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to detain Blalack would be an abuse of discretion because glassy eyes and slurred speech absent other circumstances indicating intoxication do not create a reasonable suspicion of legal intoxication?

## **ARGUMENT**

### **A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In an appeal from an administrative agency decision, this Court reviews the agency decision independently of the District Court's Appellate Decision. *Viveros v. Idaho Dep't. of Health & Welfare*, 126 Idaho 714, 717, 889 P.2d 1104, 1107 (1995); *Chambers v. Kootenai County Bd. of Comm'rs.*, 125 Idaho 115, 116, 867 P.2d 989, 990 (1994); *Hardy v. Higginson*, 123 Idaho 485, 488, 849 P.2d 946, 949 (1993). A review of an agency decision is limited to the record on appeal, and this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the hearing officer on questions of fact. *Viveros v. Idaho Dep't. of Health & Welfare*, 126 Idaho at 717; 889 P.2d at 1107. *Idaho Cty. v. Idaho Dep't of Health & Welfare*, 128 Idaho 846, 848, 920 P.2d 62, 64 (1996).

“As stated in the standard of review section, an agency decision will not be set aside unless one of the exceptions in Idaho Code § 67–5279(3) applies and the petitioner shows that its substantial rights have been prejudiced.” *N. Snake Ground Water Dist. v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 160 Idaho 518, 529, 376 P.3d 722, 733 (2016). Idaho Code 67-5279(3) allows an agency’s decision to be set aside if it is in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions, or is unsupported by the evidence or is an abuse of discretion. Idaho Code Ann. § 67-5279.

1. The hearing officer erred when he did not make any findings of fact that would support the conclusion that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to detain Blalack in order to conduct a DUI investigation.

Trooper Cushman made an initial investigatory detention (hereinafter referred to as a “stop”) of Blalack for speeding. That stop, however, cannot justify the stop of Blalack for purposes of conducting a DUI investigation. Legal cause to stop Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation had to be supported by a reasonable and articulable suspicion that Blalack was



driving under the influence. The hearing officer concluded that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to stop Blalak, but did not make any findings of fact that would support that conclusion. The lack of any factual findings requires that the suspension be set aside, but not that the matter be remanded for further factual findings.

If a person fails evidentiary testing for alcohol, then their license will be suspended by the Idaho Department of Transportation. Idaho Code 18-8002(A). The person has a right to a hearing to have the suspension set aside and the hearing officer is required to make findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding any applicable grounds to set aside a suspension pursuant to Idaho Code 18-8002(A)(7).

Idaho Code §18-8002A(7)(a) provides that a license suspension can be vacated if the officer did not have legal cause to stop the person. A traffic “stop” is an investigatory detention, *State v. Pylican*, 477 P.3d 180, 186 (2020). To be constitutional, a stop must be supported by articulable facts which would support a reasonable suspicion that the person is engaged in criminal activity. *State v. Perez*, 164 Idaho 626, 628, 434 P.3d 801, 803 (2019). The reasonableness of the suspicion is evaluated considering the totality of the circumstances at the time of the stop. *Id.*

If the purpose of the initial stop changes, the subsequent stop must be supported by articulable facts which support a reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot. In *State v. Linze*, 161 Idaho 605 (2016), a driver was stopped for a cracked windshield. After the reason for the stop was explained to the driver, the officer then called a drug dog to the scene. The Idaho Supreme Court found this to be an abandonment of the original purpose of the stop and that the extended detention must be supported by reasonable suspicion.

Here, we have a case in which a police officer had probable cause because Mrs. Linze was driving with a cracked windshield, which constitutes a traffic violation. It follows that the initial seizure was

reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. The pertinent question before this Court is whether or not the seizure remained reasonable under the Fourth Amendment once Officer Bridges abandoned the purpose of the seizure in order to aid in a search for contraband. We hold that it did not.

The Court then explained that once the original purpose of the stop is abandoned, the new purpose must be supported by reasonable suspicion.

However, should the officer abandon the purpose of the stop, the officer no longer has that original reasonable suspicion supporting his actions. Indeed, when an officer abandons his or her original purpose, the officer has for all intents and purposes initiated a new seizure with a new purpose; one which requires its own reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment. This new seizure cannot piggy-back on the reasonableness of the original seizure.

*State v. Linze*, 161 Idaho 605,  
609, 389 P.3d 150, 154 (2016).

Trooper Cushman initiated a second stop of Blalack when he decided to turn the traffic stop into an investigation for a possible driving under the influence. That occurred the moment he requested Blalack to exit her vehicle. Nothing else occurred between the two until Trooper Cushman tells Blalack he is going to make sure she is ok to drive.

The only contested issue before the hearing officer was whether Trooper Cushman had legal cause to stop Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation. The hearing officer correctly found that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to stop Blalack for speeding, (E.43), but did not make any findings of what articulable facts supported the legal conclusion that Trooper Cushman had reason to suspect Blalack was driving under the influence and, therefore, had the legal authority to stop Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation. This is an error, but does not require remand to the hearing officer because a determination that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to detain Blalack would be an abuse of discretion as it would not be supported by the evidence.

2. A determination on remand that Trooper Cushman did have legal cause to detain Blalack for a DUI investigation would be an abuse of discretion because glassy eyes

and alleged slurred speech do not create a reasonable suspicion that someone is legally intoxicated.

When a discretionary ruling is tainted by a legal or factual error, ordinarily the matter is remanded for a new, error-free determination. *State v. Truman*, 150 Idaho 714, 723, 249 P.3d 1169, 1178 (Ct. App. 2010). A remand can be avoided if it is apparent from the record that the result would not change or a different result would represent an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

Whether or not Trooper Cushman had a reasonable suspicion that Blalack was driving under the influence is evaluated considering the totality of the circumstances at the time he detained Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation. Other than speeding, which was explained, nothing else about Blalack's driving indicated she was intoxicated. The only two facts which Trooper Cushman observed prior to the time he detained Blalack for a DUI investigation were glassey eyes and alleged slurred speech. Alone, neither of these create a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, nor do they combined.

Next, we add the offense of speeding. Intoxication cannot be inferred rationally from the offense of speeding alone. Although speeding together with bloodshot eyes may be more suggestive of intoxication than either factor taken alone, the logical combination of these circumstances is not so much greater than the aggregation of their individual weights that it allows for a rational inference of intoxication.

*State v. Thirty Thousand Six  
Hundred Sixty Dollars & no/100,*  
136 S.W.3d 392, 400 (Tex. App.  
2004).

This stop occurred at 12:30 at night. Most people have glassey and/or bloodshot eyes at that time of night, even so bloodshot eyes are not enough to create a reasonable suspicion of DUI. "However, bloodshot eyes alone are not enough to establish reasonable suspicion that a crime is being committed." *State v. Grigg*, 149 Idaho 361, 364, 233 P.3d 1283, 1286 (Ct. App.

2010) citing *See Ferris v. State*, 355 Md. 356, 735 A.2d 491 (1999); *State v. Thirty Thousand Six Hundred Sixty Dollars and No/100 in U.S. Currency*, 136 S.W.3d 392 (Tex.Ct.App.2004).

Likewise slurred speech alone could never create a reasonable suspicion of intoxication because an officer would have no way to know if the person is slurring or if that is just how he or she talks. Trooper Cushman did not know Blalack and would have no idea if her speech was slurred or not. More importantly, any finding by the hearing officer that Blalack was slurring her speech would be an abuse of discretion as it would be unsupported by the evidence. Blalack can be clearly heard on the video of the stop and is not slurring her words any point.

Remand in this matter is not required because any finding by the hearing officer that Trooper Cushman did have legal cause to detain Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation would be an abuse of discretion. Blalack having bloodshot eyes at 12:30 a.m. could be expected, does not provide a reasonable suspicion of anything and Blalack was not slurring her words. Trooper Cushman was acting on a hunch, albeit an accurate one, but the result does not justify the means and the suspension should be set aside.

## CONCLUSION

In every single DUI case in the State of Idaho<sup>2</sup> that found that an officer had reasonable suspicion to conduct a DUI investigation involved the smell of alcohol or an admission to drinking and one other factor. No odor of alcohol was involved in this case and the combination of bloodshot/glassey eyes and alleged slurred speech – even if supported by the evidence – do not create a reasonable suspicion that someone is legally intoxicated.

It was error for the hearing officer to fail to make any findings of fact that would support the conclusion that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to stop Blalack to conduct a DUI investigation, however the matter should not be remanded because any finding that Trooper Cushman did have legal cause would be an abuse of discretion for lack of supporting facts. The suspension should be set aside by this Court and this matter concluded.