Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

4-2-2021

### Blalack v. Idaho Transportation Department Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48293

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

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. LEGAL CAUSE TO BELIEVE BLALACK WAS DRIVING IN VIOLATION OF IDAHO CODE SECTION 18-8004.

Blalack alleges that the hearing officer's finding that there was legal cause to believe that she was driving under the influence of alcohol was legally and/or factually defective. Blalack's arguments are without merit.

*The Hearing Officer.* Before the hearing officer, Blalack argued that the trooper lacked legal cause to investigate and arrest Blalack. The hearing officer stated Blalack's argument as follows:

5. Counsel contends that Trooper Cushman did not have probable cause to arrest Blalack and request evidentiary testing. Specifically, Trooper Cushman did not smell the odor of alcohol on Blalack's person and the body camera video clearly shows Blalack as coherent, with no signs of impairment. Trooper Cushman's observation of slurred speech and glassy/bloodshot eyes are not enough to request Blalack submitted to evidentiary testing. This is supported by *State v. Perez-Jungo*. As a result, Blalack was not in violation of Idaho Code §18-8004; therefore, Blalack should not have been arrested and requested to submit to evidentiary testing.

The hearing officer reviewed Idaho case law and cited the *Jordan* case and the *Barker* case, for the following conclusions of law:

6. In *State v. Jordan*, 122 Idaho at 775 (1992), the court held that reasonable suspicion to believe a driver was under the influence was established by information that the driver had been drinking, coupled with the driver's admission of drinking.

7. In *State v. Barker*, 123 Idaho 162 (Ct. App. 1992), driving under the influence in violation of Idaho Code §18-8004 is established by examining the totality of the circumstance which encompasses circumstantial evidence of impaired driving ability or other observed symptoms of intoxication.

At the ALS hearing, the power to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve factual conflicts, weigh the evidence and draw factual inferences from the evidence was vested with the hearing officer. Here, the hearing officer accepted the facts as reported by Trooper Cushman, and found:

8. Trooper Cushman's Narrative Report (Exhibit D) asserts that during his initial contact with Blalack, he suspected Blalack was under the influence of alcohol based upon her slurred speech and glassy eyes. Trooper Cushman then had Blalack exit the vehicle to question her further. During questioning, Blalack admitted to consuming one glass of wine that evening.

9. A review of video from Trooper Cushman's body camera (Exhibit C) shows him make contact with Blalack after he conducted the traffic stop. Blalack admitted to consuming alcohol prior to driving. Even though Trooper Cushman does not document that he smelled the odor of alcohol on Blalack's person, it does not negate his other observations of impairment he observed.

10. In *State v. Perez-Jungo*, 156 Idaho 609, 616, 329, P.3d 391, 398 (Ct. App. 2014) the court held that bloodshot eyes or glassy eyes alone are not sufficient to provide reasonable suspicion.

11. In the case at hand, Trooper Cushman first observed Blalack to have slurred speech and glassy eyes. After exiting the vehicle, Blalack admitted to consuming one glass of wine. Blalack's admission to consuming alcohol, along with Trooper Cushman's observation of slurred speech, glassy eyes and impaired memory, support and bolster the suspicion of impairment and intoxication, thus leading to sufficient legal cause to request evidentiary testing.

12. Law enforcement officers contemplating arrest charges for driving under the influence should take into consideration driving pattern, personal contact with the driver and observable signs of impairment or intoxication, along with the results of any field sobriety tests.

*Ex., p. 53.*

During the ALS hearing, by law the burden of proof was on Blalack. The hearing officer specifically noted that she did not meet her burden of proof. The hearing officer found in favor of the evidence presented by Trooper Cushman. He wrote:

13. Blalack failed to present any affirmative evidence or any other factually weighted proof that would sway the evidence in her favor and prevail over the evidence of Trooper Cushman. Thus, Blalack's argument fails.

*Ex., p. 53.* As demonstrated above, the findings of fact by the hearing officer are supported by substantial evidence. As such, even if there is conflicting evidence, the findings of fact are binding on this reviewing Court.

*The District Court.* The District Court considered and rejected the arguments of Blalack. With respect to the trooper's request that Blalack exit the vehicle, District Court correctly held that:

The appropriate inquiry is whether Trooper Cushman had reasonable suspicion to continue Blalack's detention to investigate whether she was driving under the influence by administering field sobriety tests, not whether Trooper Cushman had probable cause to believe Blalack was driving under the influence. The hearing officer found, "Trooper Cushman first observed Blalack to have slurred speech and glassy eyes. After exiting the vehicle, Blalack admitted to consuming one glass of wine. Blalack's admission to consuming alcohol, along with Trooper Cushman's observations of slurred speech, glassy eyes and impaired memory, supported and bolster the suspicion of impairment and intoxication, thus leading to sufficient legal cause to request evidentiary testing." AR. At 45. This finding is not clearly erroneous and is supported by substantial evidence in the record.

*R., p. 80.*

Blalack also contended that the trooper did not have legal cause to request that Blalack submit to a breath test. The District Court also rejected that argument and stated:

Blalack also alleges that the hearing officer erred in finding that Trooper Cushman had legal cause to request that she submit to breath testing. After admitting to drinking alcohol prior to driving, Trooper Cushman asked Blalack to perform a series of field sobriety tests, which she did. Blalack failed the horizontal gaze nystagmus test and the walk and turn test. Blalack also failed a counting test and an alphabet test. Trooper Cushman then placed Blalack under arrest for DUI, and subsequently asked her to submit to breath testing. Blalack's breath test results were .118/.118.

Here, Trooper Cushman had probable cause to arrest Blalack and reasonable grounds to believe Blalack was operating her vehicle while under the influence of alcohol. Trooper Cushman noted Blalack's bloodshot/glassy eyes and slurred speech, Blalack admitted to consuming alcohol prior to driving, and Blalack failed two of three field sobriety tests, an alphabet test, and a counting test. The hearing officer's finding that Trooper Cushman had "legal cause to request Blalack submit to evidentiary testing" was not an abuse of discretion and is supported by substantial evidence in the record.

R., p. 80-81.

The District Court concluded its decision affirming that Blalack failed in her burden of proof and upheld the administrative license suspension. The decision of the District Court was supported the undisputed facts and by Idaho law.

Idaho Law. A Section 18-8002A license suspension must be vacated if the trooper did not have legal cause to believe the person had been driving a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of the law. At issue presented in this case is whether the trooper had legal cause to stop and investigate Blalack.

In 1999, the Idaho Court of Appeals decided *State v. Ferreira*, 133 Idaho 474, 988 P.2d 700 (Ct. App. 1999). One of the issues was whether the officer had the evidence necessary to request the driver to exit the vehicle. Citing the US Supreme Court decision in *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, the Idaho Court of Appeals stated:

In *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 98 S.Ct. 330, 54 L.Ed.2d 331 (1977), the United States Supreme Court held that once a motor vehicle has been lawfully detained for a traffic violation, the police officer may order the driver to get out of the vehicle without violating the Fourth Amendment's proscription of unreasonable searches and seizures. This rule has been followed in Idaho. In *Mimms*, the Supreme Court focused on the danger posed to the officer from both the driver and passing traffic. ... Thus, it stands to reason that when an officer suspects that the driver of a lawfully stopped vehicle is driving contrary to I.C. § 18-8004, the officer is not required to stand on the roadside and question the driver further while the driver remains seated inside the vehicle.

*Id.*, 483, 988 P.2d 700, 709. (internal citations omitted). Likewise, Trooper Cushman was legally permitted to ask Blalack to step out of the vehicle to question here further.

In 2003 the Idaho Court of Appeals issued a decision regarding whether the officer had legal cause to request a breath test in *Thompson v. State*, 138 Idaho 512, 65 P.3d 534 (Ct.App. 2003). The facts of Thompson were stated as follows:

At a little after 1 a.m. on a Saturday morning, Thompson was stopped by Officer Donald Thom for driving thirty-five miles per hour in a twenty-five-mile-per-hour zone. When

Officer Thom spoke to Thompson, he detected a strong odor of alcohol, but upon being questioned about it, Thompson denied drinking any alcoholic beverages that night. Thom also noted that Thompson avoided making eye contact with him. Believing that the alcoholic odor was coming from Thompson's breath, Officer Thom asked Thompson to get out of the vehicle and perform a series of field sobriety tests. Thompson exited the car but refused to perform the tests, stating that he had been told to "never perform field sobriety tests." At this time, Thom observed that Thompson's eyes were bloodshot and that his pupils were atypically dilated. Thom urged Thompson to take the tests, telling him that if he refused he would be arrested for DUI. Thompson again refused and was placed under arrest and transported to the Twin Falls County Jail.

*Id.*, 65 P.3d 534. Thompson argued that the officer did not have legal cause to request a breath test. The Court of Appeals disagreed:

In the present case, the officer observed Thompson driving ten miles per hour in excess of the twenty-five-mile-per-hour speed limit, detected a strong odor of alcohol on Thompson's breath, observed that he had bloodshot eyes and dilated pupils, and was aware that Thompson had refused to take field sobriety tests which could have confirmed or dispelled the suspicion of intoxication. Thompson had also continued traveling for about a quarter-mile after the officer turned on his overhead lights to signal Thompson to stop. Thompson did not have slurred speech nor difficulty walking, but because of the alcohol odor on his breath, the officer had reason to believe that Thompson had lied when he denied having been drinking. When these events occurred, it was a very late hour on a weekend night. Collectively, these circumstances are sufficient to support a reasonable belief that Thompson had been driving under the influence of alcohol.

Thompson argues vigorously that mere speeding is not an indication that a driver is under the influence and therefore Officer Thom had no basis to believe that Thompson had ingested enough alcohol to impair his driving ability. We cannot wholly agree with this proposition. Admittedly, speeding very frequently occurs without alcohol use, and neither the speeding nor any of the other observations made by Officer Thom, standing alone, would create probable cause for a DUI arrest. Nevertheless, Thompson's driving behavior of exceeding the speed limit and traveling for a quarter-mile before stopping in response to the officer's overhead lights, when coupled with the other evidence of alcohol use and the inference of consciousness of guilt that can be drawn from Thompson's refusal of field sobriety tests and denial that he had been drinking despite the odor of alcohol on his breath, gives rise to probable cause to believe that Thompson had been driving while under the influence. Accordingly, if probable cause for arrest is a prerequisite to an officer's valid request for a breath test, that prerequisite was met here. It follows that the magistrate was correct in suspending Thompson's driver's license pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002(4)(b).

*Id.*, at 515-6, 65 P.3d 587-8. Here, after legally stopping Blalack, Trooper Cushman had additional evidence of glassy eyes and slurred speech. This evidence supported additional investigation.

In 2010 the Idaho Court of Appeals issued a decision in *State v. Grigg*, 149 Idaho 361, 233 P.3d 1283 (Ct. App. 2010). The facts were as follows:

On a summer evening, Grigg was seated in his parked car at a public park with his windows rolled down, attempting to repair his car cigarette lighter. The sun was out, and Grigg's car was parked in the shade. An officer approached Grigg's vehicle on foot and asked Grigg what he was doing at the park. The officer observed that Grigg had glassy bloodshot eyes, eye tremors, reddening of the conjunctiva, and a white substance around his mouth. After making this observation, the officer asked Grigg to step out of the car. Grigg complied, and the officer questioned Grigg further. During questioning outside of his vehicle, Grigg admitted that he had marijuana in his car. Once another officer arrived at the scene, the original officer searched Grigg's vehicle and discovered drug paraphernalia, methamphetamine, and marijuana. Thereafter, Grigg was arrested for possession of a controlled substance and possession of drug paraphernalia.

Grigg moved to suppress the evidence alleging that his arrest was not legal and violated the Fourth Amendment. The Court of Appeals disagreed and stated:

In this case, not only did Grigg have bloodshot eyes, but his eyes were also glassy. In addition, the officer testified that Grigg's glassy bloodshot eyes were coupled with reddening of the conjunctiva of his eyes and eyelid tremors. The officer further testified that, based on his training and experience, such characteristics indicate that a person is under the influence of a controlled substance. Therefore, based on the totality of the circumstances, the officer had a reasonable and articulable suspicion that Grigg was under the influence of drugs. As a result, it was reasonable for the officer to briefly detain Grigg outside of his vehicle in order to investigate further. Grigg's encounter with the officer was a reasonable investigative detention under Terry and did not violate the Fourth Amendment. As such, Grigg has failed to show that the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress.

*Id.*, at 363-364, 233 P.3d 1285-6. Likewise, in this case, Trooper Cushman had more evidence than just her glassy eyes. He also observed speeding and slurred speech before he requested Blalack to exit her vehicle.

In 2014, the Idaho Court of Appeals issued a decision in *State v Perez-Jungo*, 149 Idaho 361, 329 P.3d 391 (Ct. App. 2014). In *Perez-Jungo* the facts were as follows:

An officer came upon Perez-Jungo's vehicle parked to the side of a rural gravel road at approximately 1:36 a.m. As the officer approached Perez-Jungo's vehicle, the officer activated his patrol vehicle's overhead emergency lights. The officer testified that his initial reasons for approaching the vehicle were his concern that the vehicle was abandoned, the vehicle was stolen, the driver was in need of assistance, or the driver may have been involved in recent vandalisms of cell towers in the area. After pointing his spotlight at the driver's side mirror, the officer observed an individual in the vehicle. The officer approached the vehicle and asked Perez-Jungo what he was doing. Perez-Jungo responded that he was waiting for a friend and that someone had told him there was a potential job site nearby. The officer noted that Perez-Jungo's eyes were bloodshot and glassy. He asked Perez-Jungo if he had been drinking and Perez-Jungo said he had not. The officer also noticed a Santa Muerte statuette on the dashboard of Perez-Jungo's vehicle, which the officer testified was the patron saint of drug traffickers. The officer then requested Perez-Jungo's driver's license and information, returned to his patrol vehicle and ran a status check for active warrants, which came back negative. He was also able to determine that the vehicle was not stolen. The officer requested backup, which arrived approximately ten minutes later, and a canine unit, which never arrived. Perez-Jungo was told to exit his vehicle and was questioned. During questioning, other officers shined flashlights into the vehicle's windows. The officers eventually saw what appeared to be drug paraphernalia and a controlled substance, leading to a search of the vehicle. The items tested presumptively positive for controlled substances.

*Id.*, 329 P.3d 394-5. Perez-Jungo moved to suppress the evidence based upon an illegal search.

The Court of Appeals denied the motion and reasoned, in part, as follows:

The circumstances known to the officer here provided reasonable suspicion to believe that some criminal activity was afoot. The officer testified that, after the concerns justifying his initial contact with Perez-Jungo had been resolved, he suspected that Perez-Jungo might be involved in impaired driving or illegal drug activity. Specifically, the officer came upon Perez-Jungo's vehicle parked on a gravel road in a remote area late at night. Although this was insufficient alone to create reasonable suspicion, officers are not required to ignore the suspicious nature of relevant surrounding circumstances, such as location or time. See, e.g., *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000) (noting that police may consider location, even when not in a high-crime area, when determining if reasonable suspicion exists); *State v. McAfee*, 116 Idaho 1007, 1010, 783 P.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 1989) (agreeing that "unusual activities at unusual hours" can contribute to establish reasonable suspicion, but noting that citizens do not become prospective detainees because they lawfully drive and park late at night). The officer also observed that Perez-Jungo had bloodshot, glassy eyes. Again, the presence of bloodshot and glassy eyes is not alone sufficient to provide reasonable

suspicion. Grigg, 149 Idaho at 364, 233 P.3d at 1286. However, it nonetheless supports suspicion of both intoxication and illegal drug activity. See *State v. Sheldon*, 139 Idaho 980, 985, 88 P.3d 1220, 1225 (Ct. App. 2003) (noting that glassy, bloodshot eyes not caused by alcohol consumption can contribute to reasonable suspicion of illegal drug activity).

Indeed, few additional facts are needed beyond bloodshot and glassy eyes to provide reasonable suspicion of impaired driving or illegal drug activity. See Grigg, 149 Idaho at 364, 233 P.3d at 1286 (finding reasonable suspicion to support an extended detention where defendant had bloodshot and glassy eyes, reddening of the conjunctiva of his eyes, and eyelid tremors). Although Perez-Jungo denied having consumed alcohol or drugs recently, it was reasonable for the officer to believe Perez-Jungo was being untruthful, especially in light of the questionable explanation Perez-Jungo provided for what he was doing. He asserted that he was waiting to meet with a friend and look into possible employment in the area. However, as noted by the district court, Perez-Jungo was in a remote area with no businesses or residences nearby and it was late at night, making his explanation unlikely. Finally, the officer observed a Santa Muerte statuette on the dashboard of Perez-Jungo's vehicle. The officer testified that, based on his training and experience, Santa Muerte is a patron saint for drug traffickers.

Based on the totality of these circumstances, the officer had reasonable suspicion to detain Perez-Jungo for further investigation. Taken individually, none of these facts would be sufficient to provide reasonable suspicion that Perez-Jungo was, had been, or was about to be involved in criminal activity. However, when taken together and viewed as a whole picture, these facts support extension of the initially lawful detention to further investigate potential crimes involving impaired driving and illegal drug activity. See *Brumfield*, 136 Idaho at 917, 42 P.3d at 710 (noting that facts susceptible to innocent explanations separately may still warrant further investigation when taken together). The district court did not err in finding that the extension of Perez-Jungo's detention was supported by reasonable suspicion.

*Id.* Here, the evidence available to Trooper Cushman, when taken as a whole, supported the extension of the Trooper's investigation that Blalack may be driving under the influence of alcohol,

In *State v. Svelmoe*, 160 Idaho 327, 372 P.3d 382 (2016) was cited by the District Court. Svelmoe was pulled over for an equipment violation. The arresting officer testified that Svelmoe had blood shot eyes and smelled of alcohol. The officer also testified that Svelmoe failed two of three field sobriety tests. Based upon the foregoing evidence, the officer had reasonable grounds to believe that Svelmoe was operating his vehicle under the influence of alcohol.



Discussion. Blalack argues that, although Trooper Cushman had legal cause to stop Blalack for speeding, he did not have legal cause “to stop” Blalack to investigate a DUI. Blalack argues:

*“Trooper Cushman initiated a second stop of Blalack when he decided to turn the traffic stop into an investigation for possible driving under the influence. That occurred the moment he requested Blalack to exit her vehicle. Nothing else occurred between the two until Trooper Cushman tells Blalack he is going to make sure she is okay to drive.”*

*Appellant’s Brief, p. 6.* As explained above, there was no “second stop” of Blalack by Trooper Cushman. When Blalack was asked to exit the vehicle, Trooper Cushman had “reasonable suspicion to continue Blalack’s detention to investigate” whether she was driving under the influence. Reasonable suspicion was based upon speeding, glassy eyes, slurred speech<sup>2</sup> and the time of night. Therefore, the extension of his investigation was supported by the facts of this case.

**B. REMAND TO THE HEARING OFFICER.**

Blalack also argued that the hearing officer “*did not make any findings of what articulable facts supported the legal conclusion that Trooper Cushman had reason to suspect Blalack was driving under the influence....*” *Appellant’s Brief, page 6.* This argument ignores the record and the facts found in the hearing officer’s decision. Specifically, the hearing officer described the narrative of the Trooper in his findings of fact:

---

<sup>2</sup> Blalack argued at various points in the record that Blalack was not slurring her speech and that the finding by the hearing officer is an abuse of discretion. *See Appellant’s Brief, p. 6.* This argument misperceives the burden of proof and the role of the hearing officer. At the ALS hearing Blalack had the burden of proof and Blalack presented no affirmative evidence that she was not slurring her speech other than the body cam video recording. On issues of fact, it is up to the hearing officer to weigh the evidence presented to him. In this case, the hearing officer found that the police report account of slurred speech was more credible than the assertions from the body cam video that her speech was not slurred. Findings of fact are binding on the reviewing court, absent proof of an abuse of discretion by the hearing officer.

8. Trooper Cushman's Narrative Report (Exhibit D) asserts that during his initial contact with Blalack, he suspected Blalack was under the influence of alcohol based upon her slurred speech and glassy eyes. Trooper Cushman then had Blalack exit the vehicle to question her further. During questioning, Blalack admitted to consuming one glass of wine that evening. [emphasis added].

*Ex., p. 53.* The hearing officer also stated that he accepted the Trooper's evidence over the evidence of presented by Blalack. He stated:

13. Blalack failed to present any affirmative evidence or any other factually weighted proof that would sway the evidence in her favor and prevail over the evidence of Trooper Cushman. Thus, Blalack's argument fails.

*Ex., p. 53.* Therefore, the findings and conclusions of the hearing officer are sufficient and binding on the reviewing court. The decision should be upheld and a remand is not necessary.

If the Court does not affirm the hearing officer's finding and conclusions, the matter must be remanded. If this Court determines that the action of the hearing officer is not affirmed due to his alleged lack of "*findings of what articulable facts*" as alleged by Blalack, Idaho Code Section 67-5279(3) provides that "it shall be set aside, in whole or in part, and remanded for further proceedings as necessary."

## **VI. CONCLUSION**

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